IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

This is a capital case involving a husband killing his wife. The record on appeal consists of 11 volumes of Record and transcripts. References to them will be by the usual letter "R" followed by the page citation.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Columbia County on December 19, 1991 charged Kenneth Chaky with the first degree murder of his wife and two counts of solicitation (R 1-3). He was tried before Judge Arthur Lawrence and found guilty of the murder and one solicitation (R 238). The jury acquitted him of the second solicitation charge (R 238).

It heard additional evidence at the penalty phase portion of the trial, and returned a death recommendation by a vote of 9-3 (R 269). The court followed that verdict and sentenced the defendant to death. In justifying that punishment, the court found in aggravation:

- 1. That he had been convicted of attempted murder while a soldier in Vietnam.
- 2. That he killed his wife for pecuniary gain (R 373-78).

In mitigation, the court recognized:

- 1. That Chaky was a good worker, having been employed for several years as a computer program analyst at an annual salary of \$29,300.
- 2. That he was a good son. He also had good relations with his son and daughter.
- 3. That he has some potential for rehabilitation.
- 4. That he has a good prison record.

(R 376-78).

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In 1985 the University of Florida hired Kenneth Chaky to work there as a computer analyst (R 700). By October 1991, he had a yearly salary of about \$29,000 (R 1056). Patsy, his wife of sixteen years, lived with him and their two children (Natalie, 16, and Hans, 3) in a trailer in a rural part of Columbia County (R 591, 786). Mrs. Chaky owned a house in Gainesville, and sometime during that month she and her husband decided to move there and rent the trailer (R 785, 793-94). During that month they were cleaning up the trailer and moving some things to town (R 793).

While Ken considered his marriage a good one (R 788), the move brought to a head festering problems the couple had. She hated to clean house, and as one neighbor described their trailer, it "looked like the Columbia County landfill." (R 789) She also did not like to cook, preferring instead to eat out, which the family did regularly, several times each week (R 789).

In 1976 Patsy had been in the Army Reserves and had suffered a head injury for which she received a twenty percent disability payment (R 791-92). Medication had been prescribed, but she refused to take it, and Chaky ascribed her subsequent seizures and quick temper to that injury (R 791-92).

When they got into arguments they yelled a lot and Patsy occasionally hit him to which he rarely retaliated (T 790-91). She had also threatened him with a gun and a knife (R 791).

Patsy was 5'4" tall and weighed 165 pounds. Ken was 5'9" tall and weighed 180 pounds (R 790-91).

On October 24, 1991 Ken left work about 4 p.m. and went to the Gainesville house where he left his two children (R 796). Patsy and he then took her white Oldsmobile and returned to the trailer. He made two trips to a dumpster, and was making a third when the car's transmission began acting up (R 798-99). He stopped at Barney Feinberg's auto repair business, opened the hood, and with Charlie Thompson's help, added some transmission fluid to the vehicle (R 799). He waved at Feinberg but said nothing to him, got back in his car, and returned to the trailer (R 799-800).

Patsy was waiting for him, and she was mad (R 800). His explanation apparently did little to mollify her because she went to her car and returned shortly with Chaky's .38 caliber gun (R 801). Ken, who was putting trash in a bag, froze when he saw her with the weapon, trying to cock it (R 802-804). He grabbed for it "pretty hard" while backing up. He tripped over something, pulling his wife (who still had hold of the gun) on top of him. They struggled, he got the pistol, and he hit her on the head with it twice (R 805). She fell to the floor unconscious, and Ken left her there while he locked the gun away (R 805). When he returned five minutes later, Patsy had not moved, so he carried her outside, and she died there (R 806).

Scared, Ken did not know what to do, so for reasons he could not explain, he returned to Feinberg's shop (R 807). He

told the mechanic what had happened, and he told Chaky to put his wife's body in the trunk of the car, and they would "do something." (R 808) After the defendant left, Feinberg told Charlie Thompson that the defendant wanted his car burned for the insurance (R 559).

When Chaky returned, Thompson drove the vehicle while he sat in the back seat. Thompson dropped the defendant at his trailer and drove away (R 809). Ken asked a neighbor to take him to Gainesville, claiming that his wife had left him (R 595, 809-10).

He did not sleep that night, nor did he go to work the next day (R 811). When he told his daughter that her mother had left him, she urged her father to file a report with the police, which he did (R 816).

Meanwhile, Thompson had decided he would simply abandon the car in the woods rather than burn it (R 564). He drove it to his step-brother's house so he could give him a ride home, and while there they opened the trunk and saw Patsy Chaky's body wrapped in a rug (R 566-67). Both men were scared and excited, deciding at one moment to call the police, but changing their minds the next (R 567). They wiped off any fingerprints then agreed to return the vehicle to Feinberg (R 568). When they told the mechanic what was in the trunk he told them he wanted "it" off his property (R 569). The two brothers discussed the matter some more, and finally parked the vehicle near some dumpsters so the police would find it (R 570).

An officer, in fact, did discover the car the next day (R 604). He traced the ownership of the Oldsmobile to Chaky and when the defendant was informed where it was he eventually got it (R 607, 813). He called Feinberg for help, and the latter agreed to help him dispose of the body (R529). Feinberg himself was "pretty shaky" by now and the men finally left Mrs. Chaky's corpse in the woods near the small settlement of Ft. White (R 530). It was found several days later (R 479), badly decomposed (R 501). Murder was suspected when the medical examiner determined that Mrs. Chaky had been killed by two blows to her head (R 507).

The police questioned Feinberg about the murder in November, and he denied knowing anything about it (R 534). Sometime later he gave them some information about getting rid of the car, but he said nothing implicating Chaky (R 535). The next month, December, he testified before the Grand Jury, and again mentioned nothing about the defendant (R 535). A short time later he changed his story, and this time he squarely placed Chaky at the center of a plot to kill his wife.

Feinberg claimed to have known the defendant for several years, although until the summer of 1991, he had not seen him for three years (R 545). In August, he came to Feinberg's shop, and after looking at some tires, told the mechanic that he wanted him to kill his wife (R 516). He did not say why he wanted it done, nor did he say how he wanted it accomplished (R 516).

Chaky returned a few days later and told Feinberg he was going on vacation with his wife and children, and the mechanic could follow them and kill his wife after the defendant and his son and daughter had left their motel room (R 517). Feinberg demurred because he did not have a driver's license (R 517). Chaky approached him a third time, but told him someone "down south" might kill his wife (R 518).

Apparently nothing came of this last plan. On October 25th the defendant had pulled the Oldsmobile into Feinberg's shop, and he and Thompson were adding transmission fluid to it (R 521). Chaky asked the mechanic if everything was OK, and he asked Thompson (whom he had talked to a few days earlier about getting rid of the car (R 519)), who agreed (R 523). The defendant said "he was going to get the package ready," and he would be back (R 523). He returned within the hour with his wife's body in the trunk (R 524), and Thompson and Chaky then left as recounted above.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Chaky presents four issues for this court to consider: two coming from the guilt phase portion of the trial and the two others from the penalty phase.

ISSUE I. During its deliberations, the jury asked that the testimony of one of the state's witnesses, Charlie Thompson, be reread to them. The court agreed, and it read it to them, or rather only a portion of it. After listening to part of the direct testimony, the foreman told the court he had heard enough. The jury then retired to deliberate further. While Rule 3.410 Fla. R. Crim. P. allows them to have portions of trial testimony read, case law dictates that they have all of the testimony given to them. Without rehearing all the direct examination of Mr. Thompson, and none of the cross-examination, the jury may have given undue emphasis to what they did hear.

ISSUE II. Capital cases, with their particularly high concern with procedural regularity, have created a peculiar quirk in jury instructions. When a person has been charged with a first degree murder, Rule 3.390(b) Fla. R. Crim. P. requires that the charge to the jury be in writing and filed. The language of this rule uses the phrases "shall be in writing" and "shall be filed," indicating the court has no discretion in the matter but must do as it requires. In this case, nothing shows the court ever followed the commands of that rule. To the contrary, the jury asked for re-instruction on what constituted first degree murder, clear evidence the

court had failed to follow the mandates of this procedural dictate. Because Chaky's life is at stake, his lawyer's failure to object is no impediment to this court considering this issue.

ISSUE III. In sentencing Chaky to death, the court found that he had killed his wife for pecuniary gain. That is, he killed her so he could collect on the insurance policy he had taken on her life. What the state introduced to prove this aggravator, when considered with the other evidence presented, cannot do so. The policy was for \$185,000, a large sum, to be sure, but not a tremendous amount when considered in light of the amounts in other cases this court has considered. Chaky also had two children, one little more than an infant, who would have had claim to the proceeds. Further weakening this aggravator, the defendant had included his wife in the policy the University of Florida offered its employees. He had also made yearly increases only in modest amounts, the last being more than six months before her death. Finally, he never collected the insurance money, and until well into the trial, he did not know that his sister (a co-beneficiary) had done so.

ISSUE IV. As the psychologist who testified in Chaky's behalf said, the defendant was an "average person just like everybody else." If so, he does not deserve a death sentence. When the facts of this case are placed next to those involving murders for insurance money, they reveal that Chaky should spend the rest of his life in prison. The policy on Patsy Chaky's life was not exorbitantly high, nor was it purchased

with murder in mind. Unlike other similar type cases, only one person was killed, and the murder was neither heinous, atrocious, or cruel; or cold, calculated, and premeditated. There was also no evidence of any significant problems with their marriage.

While serving in Vietnam, Chaky had been convicted of trying to kill another soldier, and the court used that fact to aggravate his death sentence. The defendant, however, explained the times, the taut nerves that were stretched even tighter at his base camp, and the death threats he and his team had received from those who should have been his comrades. While sentenced to two years in prison for his crime, he nevertheless received an honorable discharge, a strange act unless what he did was not as serious as the bare face of the conviction would admit.

Since then Chaky has lived a law abiding, productive life. He has had no other criminal record. He was an average person, just like everyone else. He does not deserve to die.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE COURT ERRED IN NOT REREADING ALL THE TESTIMONY OF CHARLIE THOMPSON, WHICH THE JURY HAD REQUESTED AFTER IT HAD BEGUN DELIBERATIONS ON CHAKY'S GUILT, A VIOLATION OF HIS FIFTH, SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS.

After the jury had begun deliberating on the question of Chaky's guilt, it asked the court to reread the testimony of one of the state's witnesses, Charlie Thompson (R 988). Defense counsel objected, arguing that the court should require it to rely on its collective memory (R 989, 990). Later, he wished the jury could have been more specific in what they wanted (R 991). The court rejected that complaint and granted the request (R 991). Most of Thompson's direct testimony was The jury heard that on the day of the homicide, Chaky came to Feinberg's shop and the witness helped the defendant put some transmission fluid in his car, and afterwards he had a short conversation with Feinberg (R 557-58). He solicited Thompson to burn the defendant's Oldsmobile as part of "an insurance deal." (R 559). Chaky returned that evening and had the witness drive him home. Before the defendant got out of the car, he told Thompson not to take anything out of it, especially the trunk (R 563). Instead of burning the vehicle as he had agreed to do, he drove it to his brother's house. While there the trunk was opened and Thompson's brother apparently saw Patsy Chaky's body (R 567). Excited and frightened, they considered calling the police but rejected

that idea (R 568). Instead, Thompson drove the car to Feinberg's house, and when Feinberg learned what was in the trunk he said "Fine" and told him he wanted the vehicle off his property (R 569). It was decided to leave it at some dumpsters, which is what happened (R 570).

At that point, the jury foreman stopped the rereading of Thompson's testimony:

THE FOREMAN OF THE JURY: Your Honor, I think we have heard what we wanted.

THE COURT: You are satisfied, you have heard all of Charlie Thompson's testimony, that you need?

THE FORMAN: Yes, sir.

(R 1009)

Thompson gave 20 transcript pages of direct testimony (R 554-574) of which 16 were reread (554-570). The six pages of cross-examination (R 574-580) were not, neither was the 1 1/2 pages of redirect (R 580-81) or the 1/2 page of final recross-examination (R 582). The court erred when it acceded to the jury foreman's request and reread only part of Thompson's testimony. It should have either read none of it as defense counsel requested, or it should have read all of it.

Rule 3.410 Fla. R. Crim. P. provides the starting point for this issue.

After the jurors have retired to consider their verdict, it they request additional instructions or to have any testimony read to them they shall be conducted into the courtroom by the officer who has them in charge and the court may give them the additional instructions or may order the testimony read to them. The

instructions shall be given and the testimony read only after notice to the prosecuting attorney and to counsel for the defendant.

Florida law gives a trial court wide latitude in deciding whether or not to have testimony reread to the jury. Kelley v. State, 486 So. 2d 578, 583 (Fla. 1986). The question presented here focuses on if it abused that discretion when it read only a portion of one witness' evidence. Specifically, did the trial court here error when it read only part of Thompson's direct testimony and completely omitted all the cross-examination?

The primary danger of either reinstructing the jury on only part of the law governing the case or reading only part of a witness' testimony is that it may give undue emphasis to it. Trial courts, therefore, must be especially on guard that when they accede to a jury's request for reinstruction or a rereading of trial testimony. They should give complete instructions and the entire testimony of a witness.

For example, if a jury had asked to be retold what the elements of manslaughter were, the trial court must not only have instructed on that crime, it must also have defined excusable and justifiable homicide. Hedges v. State, 172 So. 2d 824 (Fla. 1965). The definition of that crime is incomplete without that additional guidance. Even if the foreman had agreed that what they had heard satisfied the jury, the court would have erred in giving only part of the law. Reynolds v. State, 332 So. 2d 27, 29 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976). As was said in

Reynolds, "We do not believe that judgment should be left entirely to jurors whose doubt of what they had heard prompted the request for repeated instructions in the first instance."

Id.

A similar rationale should apply when the jury wants to hear a witness's testimony. Often the truth of what is heard on direct is modified by cross-examination. This is done by either attacking the witness' credibility, filling in the gaps of his testimony, or expanding on it. Such questioning presents a complete and more accurate picture of the evidence given on direct.

For example, in this case, when Chaky cross-examined Thompson, the jury learned that he had at first denied any involvement in Patsy Chaky's death (R 574). He also said that the defendant had acted normally when he saw him on the day of the homicide (R 577-78).

We do not know why the jury wanted only this witness' testimony reread, so it would be speculative to argue that hearing only part of the testimony was harmless. See, Hendrickson v. State, 556 So. 2d 440 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990).

This court should reverse the trial court's judgment and sentence and remand for a new trial.

ISSUE II

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO REDUCE THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS TO WRITING FOR BOTH THE GUILT AND PENALTY PHASE PORTIONS OF THE TRIAL AS REQUIRED BY RULE 3.390(b) FLA. R. CRIM. P..

Rule 3.390(b) Fla. R. Crim. P. controls this issue. It provides, in pertinent part:

(b) Form of Instructions. Every charge to a jury shall be orally delivered, and charges in capital cases shall, . . . also be in writing. All written charges shall be filed in the cause.

In both the guilt and penalty phases of this case, the court orally instructed the jury, but it never gave them a copy of the instructions to either follow as it read them, or to take with them to the jury room. Rule 3.400 Fla. R. Crim. P. permits them to use that guidance during their deliberations. Nor did it file either set of instructions as required by rule 3.390(b). While they considered their verdict, the jurors asked the court to reread the law on first degree murder, and it did so (R 1009-1017). It made two mistakes: it failed 1) to reduce the oral instructions to writing, and 2) to file them in both portions of Chaky's trial.

Justice Overton, sitting as a member of the Fourth

District Court of Appeal, said, regarding the jury's use of
written instructions:

¹ They also wanted the testimony witness Charlie Thompson reread, which was done over defense objection (R 989).

The sending of written instructions with the jury for use in its deliberations can be a valuable aid in the jury's understanding of the applicable law, particularly in complex situations, and should be used when at all possible and practical.

Matire v. State, 232 So. 2d 209, 211 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970).

The rule's use of "shall" indicates that the trial court must put the instructions in writing and file them. <u>C.f.</u>

Tascano v. State, 393 So. 2d 540 (Fla. 1981). Failure to do so, moreover, is reversible error because as this court said in another context: "If this mandatory duty could be circumvented on the basis of the harmless error rule, the effect of the mandatory provision in the rule would be negated." <u>Murray v. State</u>, 403 So. 2d 417 (Fla. 1981).

Except for one problem, Chaky would stop here, lean back in his chair, and wait for this court to grant him a new trial. The difficulty comes from his trial lawyer's failure to object. In McCaskill v. State, 344 So. 2d 1276, 1278 (Fla. 1977) this court held that the defendant had failed to preserve the same error as Chaky now raises because the defense counsel had failed to object. "Appellant's trial counsel neither requested the charges be reduced to writing nor objected to the failure of the trial judge to do so. The failure of the trial judge to comply with Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.390(b) under the circumstances of this cause was not prejudicial error." So, does appellate counsel pack his briefcase and leave court? No.

In <u>McCaskill</u>, the jury never requested the court reinstruct them on the most important instruction-what is first

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