FILED

SID J WHITE

JUL 21 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KENNETH W. CHAKY,

Appellant,

ν.

Case No.: 81,325

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR COLUMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

GYPSY BAILEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #0797200

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904)488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

As to Issue I:

Although defense counsel initially objected to the rereading of Thompson's testimony and the court permitted him an opportunity to fully voice his objection, defense counsel subsequently withdrew his objection. Accordingly, this issue has not been preserved for appellate review. In any event, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in permitting the court reporter to reread Thompson's testimony to the jury. The jury requested such testimony, and asked the court to halt the rereading when it had heard all that it wished to hear.

As to Issue II:

Chaky claims three errors by the trial court: (1) it failed to reduce the oral instructions to writing; (2) it failed to file them in both portions of Chaky's trial; and (3) it failed to provide the jury with written instructions to guide them during deliberations. Because defense counsel failed to request that the charges be reduced to writing, or object when they were not, or request that the instructions be provided to the jury, the issue has not been preserved for appellate review. In any event, in light of Chaky's inability to show any prejudice by the trial court's failure to comply with rule 3.390(b), any error committed on this

point should be deemed harmless. After all, the court charged the jury in accordance with the standard jury instructions.

As to Issue III:

Chaky compares the instant facts to those from several other capital cases involving the pecuniary gain aggravating factor, to conclude that, because he never benefitted from his crime, the direct link between killing and the insurance proceeds is too weak to support the court's finding of the pecuniary gain aggravating factor. To the contrary, the record shows beyond a reasonable doubt that Chaky killed his wife to reap insurance benefits, if not just for himself, for those who aided him.

As to Issue IV:

Chaky's death sentence is proportionate to death sentences affirmed by this Court in cases involving similar facts and a similar balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances.

ARGUMENT

Issue I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN PERMITTING THE COURT REPORTER TO READ MOST OF THOMPSON'S TESTIMONY TO THE JURY PURSUANT TO THE JURY'S REQUEST FOR SAME.

Because Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.410 gives the trial court wide latitude in the area of reading testimony to the jury, this Court should not reverse a decision in this regard unless a clear abuse of discretion is shown. Haliburton v. State, 561 So. 2d 248 (Fla. 1990), cert. denied, 111 S. Ct. 2910 (1991). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in this case, because, pursuant to the jury's specific request, it had the court reporter reread Thompson's testimony until the jury said that it had heard all that it wished to hear.

Preliminarily, this Court should be aware that, although defense counsel initially objected to the rereading of Thompson's testimony and the court permitted him an opportunity to fully voice his objection, he subsequently withdrew it:

Well, I -- you know, THAT'S FINE. If you all really want to read the whole thing. My concern, Judge, if there was some specific portion of the testimony they were wanting to hear, that might be a different matter, but READING THE WHOLE THING, FINE. I'm not objecting to it on the substantive ground. It would

be nice if we could define it a little bit better, but if they can't, they can't.

(R 991) (emphasis supplied). Further, when the foreman advised the court that the jury had heard what it needed to hear, defense counsel remained silent (R 1009).

This Court has held that a party may not invite error below and then take advantage of the error on appeal. Pope v. State, 441 So. 2d 1073, 1076 (Fla. 1983). In Sullivan v. State, 303 So. 2d 632, 635 (Fla. 1974), this Court also held that, where a trial court has extended to counsel an opportunity to cure an error and counsel fails to take advantage of the opportunity, such error is invited and will not warrant reversal on appeal. Here, where the trial court presented defense counsel with a full and fair opportunity to explain the basis for his objection, but defense counsel chose to withdraw it, Chaky should not be permitted to claim error on appeal.

Further, based on defense counsel's silence after the court halted the rereading pursuant to the jury's request, Chaky should not be permitted now to argue that all or none of Thompson's testimony should have been reread. Even though defense counsel acquiesced to the rereading of the entirety of Thompson's testimony, he did not object when the jury foreman asked the court to halt the rereading or when

the court permitted the rereading to stop. Because defense counsel did not object when the rereading of Thompson's testimony was halted before read in its entirety, this issue has not been preserved for appellate review, and this Court should deem it procedurally barred. Nixon v. State, 572 So. 2d 1336 (Fla. 1990); Rose v. State, 461 So. 2d 84 (Fla. 1984).

If this Court nevertheless reaches the merits of this issue, it is clear that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in permitting the jury to hear only as much of Thompson's testimony as the jury deemed necessary. Kelley v. State, 486 So. 2d 578 (Fla. 1986), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 871 (1987), the jury asked the trial court whether "'John J. Sweet received immunity in Florida for first degree murder and perjury before he gave information on the Mascy trial, and if he had anything to gain by his testimony.'" Id. at 583. The trial court declined to answer the jury's question explicitly because formulating an would have required him to interpret Sweet's answer testimony and make a judgment as to his motivation. Instead, the court offered to have Sweet's testimony reread in portions designated by the jury.

This Court found no abuse of discretion in such an action: "The court's insistence upon the jury's rather than its own choice of the passage to be re-read was proper, in

light of the latter's legitimate hesitation to comment upon the evidence." Id. at 583. See also Haliburton, 561 So. 2d at 250 (no abuse of discretion where the trial court rereads testimony specifically requested by jury). Likewise, in this case, when the jury asked the rereading of Thompson's testimony to be halted and the court made certain this was what the jury wanted, the court properly permitted the jury to hear only that which the jury wanted. See Roper v. State, 608 So. 2d 533, 535 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992) ("At the very least, the trial judge should have apprised the jury that a method was available to have the cross-examination, or specific portions of it, read to them.") (emphasis supplied). To order otherwise, and tell the jury that they must hear the cross examination and redirect, would be tantamount to commenting on the evidence.

As support for his contention that, when testimony is reread, it must be read in its entirety, Chaky seeks to have this Court adopt the rationale applied in reinstruction cases, i.e., although it is proper for a judge to limit the repetition of charges to those specifically requested, repeated charges should be complete on the subject involved. See Engle v. State, 438 So. 2d 803 (Fla. 1983). In light of Kelley and Haliburton, which are directly on point, adoption of the reinstruction rationale on this point is wholly unwarranted.

Issue II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION ΙN NOTREDUCING THEINSTRUCTIONS TO WRITING, IN NOT FILING THEM IN BOTH PORTIONS OF CHAKY'S TRIAL, AND IN NOT PROVIDING THEM TO THE JURY FOR USE DURING DELIBERATIONS.

Under this issue heading, Chaky claims three errors by the trial court: (1) it failed to reduce the instructions to writing; (2) it failed to file them in both portions of Chaky's trial; and (3) it failed to provide the jury with written instructions to quide them during deliberations. Initial Brief at 15. Even though Chaky acknowledges that defense counsel failed to request that the charges be reduced to writing, or object when they were not, or request that the instructions be provided to the jury, Chaky contends that, because death penalty cases different, "legitimate rules, which in other contexts, would prevent this court from considering an issue, must give way to the greater concern of just sentencing." Initial Brief at 17-18.

This Court is not in the practice of overlooking a failure to preserve an issue simply because a case involves the death penalty. See, e.g., Nixon v. State, 572 So. 2d 1336, 1341 (Fla. 1990); Rose v. State, 461 So. 2d 84, 86 (Fla. 1984). As the Third District observed in Coggins v. State, 101 So. 2d 400, 403 (Fla. 3d DCA 1958):

It is true that the statute (Sec. 918.10(2), Fla. Stat., F.S.A.) requires the trial judge in a capital case to reduce to writing his instructions to the jury the purpose and intent being that such charges may be made available to the jury in their deliberations. See Sec. 919.04, Fla. Stat., F.S.A. In the case of Driggers v. State, 38 Fla. 7, 20 So. 758, 760, the same question was raised. The court in that case said:

"No exception was taken to the manner in which this part of the charge (oral) was given at the time it was given. the case of Hubbard v. State, 37 Fla. 156, 20 So. 235, it was held that, although the provisions of section 2920 of Statutes Revised were the mandatory, requiring the court to charge wholly in writing in capital cases, and that an oral charge in such a case would be ground of reversal if exception thereto was properly and seasonably taken, still, if the manner of giving the charge is not excepted promptly at the time, it is given orally, the error will be held to have been waived thereby, and it will not be ground for reversal on writ of The reasonableness of error. such a rule is self-evident. When the court inadvertently proceeds in such a case to deliver a charge orally, and exception to the manner of its promptly then delivery is taken, the error can at once be rectified by reducing the writing. oral charge to Southern Express Co. v. Van Meter, 17 Fla. 783."

There is no evidence in the record before us that the appellant ever requested that the charges be made

available to the jury during deliberations. It therefore becomes obvious that no prejudice has been shown to have resulted to the appellant for the failure to have the charges in In addition, we conclude that inasmuch as the exception was not duly taken at the time the charges were given but was first raised as a ground in the motion for new trial, the appellant is deemed to have waived such objection. See Weaver v. State, 58 Fla. 135, 50 So. 539.

See also McCaskill v. State, 344 So. 2d 1276, 1278 (Fla. 1977). This Court should deem this issue procedurally barred, and decline to address the merits.

Delap v. State, 440 So. 2d 1242, 1254 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 467 U.S. 1264 (1984), and Rogers v. State, 511 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1987), dispose wholly of Chaky's third claim of error, the state will not address it further. Regarding Chaky's first and second claims of error, the state contends that an abuse of discretion standard should apply. Because this Court has construed Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.400 as discretionary, see Delap, 440 So. 2d at 1254, this Court should apply a similar standard to a claim under a related rule, i.e., Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.390(b).

In <u>Matire v. State</u>, 232 So. 2d 209, 210 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970), the Fourth District acknowledged the purpose behind the requirement of section 918.10, the predecessor of rule

3.390, that written jury instructions in capital cases be in writing and filed in a case: "To establish a procedure which insures that instructions in capital cases are as correct as possible by having them reduced to writing, and thereby requiring their prior preparation presentation to the jury. . . . It also provides an unquestioned verbatim record of the charge to the jury." With the institution of standard jury instructions, and the consistent use of court reporters, the purpose behind the rule appears extinct.

The state's suggestion in this regard is not unique. In <u>Kimmons v. State</u>, 178 So. 2d 608 (Fla. 1st DCA 1965), the First District examined the purpose behind the holding of this Court in <u>Holton v. State</u>, 2 Fla. 476 (1849), which held that jury charges cannot be sent to the jury after their retirement, to conclude that the reason for the rule no longer existed. Specifically, the First District noted that the rule had evolved based on charges having been written by hand, sometimes illegible and/or confusing, and based on the illiteracy of so many persons called to jury duty in 1849. Because those factors no longer existed, and section 919.04 had intervened, the First District declined to follow <u>Holton</u>.

Moreover, the First District found that Kimmons had waived his objection by failing to object timely: "If such delivery had been in any way prejudicial to the defendant,

In this case, the court charged the jury in accordance with the standard jury instructions. See Guilt Phase Charge Conference (R 851-66); Guilt Phase Jury Instructions (R 961-84, 1009-17); Penalty Phase Charge Conference (R 1085-88); Penalty Phase Jury Instructions (R 1118-22). After instruction in both phases, defense counsel did not object, did not request written instructions, and did not request that instructions be sent with the jury for use during deliberations. In light of this, it simply cannot be said that the trial court abused its discretion in failing to comply with rule 3.390(b).

Further, in light of Chaky's inability to show any prejudice by the trial court's failure to comply with rule 3.390(b), any error committed on this point should be deemed harmless. Chaky points to the jury's request for reinstruction on first and second degree murder to conclude that the jury must have been "either so confused or forgetful that [it] had to be retold what first degree murder was." Initial Brief at 17. This is rank speculation at its best. The jury may have simply desired confirmation

the latter's counsel should have promptly interposed an objecti[on] so that the court might, if error or prejudice was demonstrated, take timely steps to eliminate any prejudicial effect." <u>Kimmons</u>, 178 So. 2d at 614.

Other than making an objection in the guilt phase about the wording of the verdict form (R 984-85).

of a distinction it already understood. Speculation is not a basis for reversible error.

Issue III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT CHAKY KILLED HIS WIFE FOR PECUNIARY GAIN.

Under this issue heading, Chaky compares the instant facts to those from several other capital cases involving the pecuniary gain aggravating factor, to conclude: "Because the defendant never benefitted or intended to profit from his crime, the direct and certain link between killing and the insurance proceeds is so weak that it cannot hold enough circumstantial evidence to support the court's finding of this aggravating factor." Answer Brief at 23. To the contrary, the record shows beyond a reasonable doubt that Chaky killed his wife to reap insurance benefits, if not just for himself, for those who aided him.

Hermelbracht testified that Chaky had increased coverage on his wife in April 1991 (R 698), about six months before her death. At the time of her death, Chaky had two policies covering his wife -- one worth \$50,000 and the other worth \$135,000 (R 695). Chaky secured this insurance in 1985, increased it in April 1986, April 1988, April 1989, and April 1991 (R 701). Additionally, Feinberg testified that, because Chaky had mentioned insurance proceeds to him, Feinberg understood that, when Chaky said he would "take care of" Feinberg, he would receive some of that money (R

533-34). Thompson testified that Chaky told him he wanted to dispose of the Oldsmobile "for insurance purposes" and that Thompson would be paid \$500.00 for burning the Oldsmobile (R 563). Finally, Donna Hough, the victim's cousin, testified that the Chakys had been having financial problems in the summer of 1991 (R 721).

This Court has held that, to establish the pecuniary gain aggravating factor, the state must prove a pecuniary motivation for the murder. Clark v. State, 609 So. 2d 513 (Fla. 1992). Although the above evidence clearly establishes such a motivation, Chaky argues that the pecuniary link here is far weaker than in other cases this Court has addressed. This contention is, quite simply, not accurate.

In Zeigler v. State, 580 So. 2d 127 (Fla. 1991), the trial court found pecuniary gain in aggravation, based on the purchase of a large insurance policy for Zeigler's wife; on the defense that the policy was taken out for estate planning purposes, but such a purchase was not a reasonable amount for estate planning purposes; and on the fact that Zeigler never told his estate planning advisor or attorney about the policy even though he had discussed estate planning with them on previous occasions. This Court upheld the trial court's rejection of Zeigler's assertion that he purchased the insurance for estate planning purposes, and

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